# FILED

APR 05 2017

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUPREME COURT NO. 94328.

Court of Appeals No. 74327-9-I

CITY OF MUKILTEO, a municipal corporation; and SAVE OUR COMMUNITIES, a Washington non-profit corporation,

Appellants,

v.

SNOHOMISH COUNTY and PROPELLER AIRPORTS PAINE FIELD, LLC, a Delaware LLC,

Respondents.

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

David A. Bricklin, WSBA No. 7583 Jacob Brooks, WSBA No. 48720 Bryan Telegin, WSBA No. 46686 BRICKLIN & NEWMAN, LLP 1424 Fourth Avenue, Suite 500 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 264-8600 Attorneys for Appellants

#

### I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONERS

٠,

The City of Mukilteo and Save Our Communities (collectively, "Mukilteo"), appellants below, hereby petition for review of the Court of Appeals decision identified in Part II.

#### II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mukilteo seeks review of the unpublished opinion issued by the Court of Appeals for Division I in the case of *City of Mukilteo v. Snohomish County*, (January 23, 2017) (2017 WL 326241) (App. A hereto). The Court of Appeals denied Mukilteo's motion for reconsideration on February 27, 2017 (App. B hereto).

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does a county's decision to enter into an option contract which legally obligates the county to lease land constitute a "project action" under SEPA, as defined at WAC 197-11-704?
- 2. Does entering into an option contract for the lease of land effectively constitute a decision to lease land by the optionor?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Court has observed that "the risk of postponing environmental review is 'a dangerous incrementalism where the obligation to decide is postponed successively while project momentum builds." *King County v.* 

Boundary Review Bd., 122 Wn.2d 648, 664, 860 P.2d 1024 (1993) (quoting William H. Rodgers, *The Washington Environmental Policy Act*, 60 WASH. L.Rev. 33, 54 (1984))." In turn, this "may begin a process of government action which can 'snowball' and acquire virtually unstoppable administrative inertia." *Id.* To avoid this, "decisionmakers need to be apprised of the environmental consequences *before* the project picks up momentum, not after." *Id.* 

The Court of Appeals decision serves to undermine SEPA, instead of embracing it. Snohomish County entered into a legally binding option contract to lease Paine Field to Propeller Airport Paine Field, LLC ("Propeller") without the benefit of environmental review required by Paine Field. The Court of Appeals' decision is inconsistent with the Supreme Court's decisions on the critical importance of early SEPA review and the legal effect of option contracts. Review by this Court is necessary to redress Snohomish County's violation of SEPA and to assure environmental review is done in a timely manner, not as a perfunctory exercise after critical decisions are made.

### A. Facts Giving Rise to the Dispute

Propeller Airports Paine Field, LLC approached Snohomish County in 2014 to discuss the possibility of constructing and operating a commercial passenger terminal at Paine Field. CP 235. On March 11, 2015, Snohomish County entered into the option contract to lease Paine Field to Propeller. CP 80.

Paine Field has been in operation since the late 1930s. CP 202. It primarily serves aircraft maintenance businesses; small, private planes; and Boeing service and test flights. CP 202-203. Paine Field serves a wide variety of aircraft, but it does not provide commercial passenger service. CP 93. It lacks facilities to serve commercial airline passengers, such as car rental fleets, efficient transportation access, and, most importantly, a passenger airline terminal. CP 111.

Snohomish County is the operator and owner of the airport at Paine Field. CP 93. As the owner of Paine Field, Snohomish County acts in a proprietary capacity. As such, it has a broad discretion to bargain for lease terms and conditions (in the same way that a private individual can), unconstrained by the limits on its regulatory powers.

On February 11, 2015, the County Executive presented the proposed option to lease between Snohomish County and Propeller to the

County Council. CP 752. In Motion 15-069 dated March 2, 2015, the County Council made the final real estate decision on behalf of the County acting as the landowner of Paine Field, approving a three-year exclusive option to lease land to Propeller at Paine Field. CP 204. At the time that the County Council made the decision, the County had not undertaken any environmental review as required by SEPA. CP 236.

The lease is attached to the option as Exhibit B. CP 77. The option commits the County to lease Paine Field under the terms of that lease. *Id.* The lease allows Propeller to use County property to construct and operate a passenger terminal complex and related support facilities such as baggage claim buildings, security buildings, auto parking, inside and outside terminal concessions (including access for rental cars, taxis, and ground transportation), and various other support activities as determined necessary by Propeller. CP 94, 111-113. The term of the lease is thirty years, with two ten-year extensions at Propeller's option. CP 106-107.

The option does not include a clawback provision that allows the County Council to choose not to enter into the lease or to alter the terms of the lease based upon the information developed during any subsequent SEPA environmental review.

The title of the option to lease states that it is "Contingent on Compliance with SEPA." CP 77. A provision in the option states that "a SEPA process must be completed prior to exercise of the Option and execution of the Lease." CP 78. But the Council cannot cancel the lease or alter the terms of the lease based on what it learns from that environmental review. When it executed the option to lease, the County locked itself into the lease attached to the option. (The Court of Appeals decision seemingly ignores this fundamental aspect of contract law.)

Entering the lease as written will have very real impacts to the surrounding environment. First, the four parcels of land that are the subject of the lease will be transformed from empty stretches of pavement that are used for vehicle or aircraft parking into a 25,000-square foot terminal building with various accessory structures necessary to serve the terminal. CP 529. Second, the change in use of the land to a commercial passenger terminal, along with the increased air and ground vehicle traffic, will cause significant adverse impacts to the surrounding community. Commercial passenger service at Paine Field would result in increased commercial aircraft operations, increased traffic to and from the terminal, and increased noise impacts from commercial aircraft. Paine Field already receives numerous complaints from surrounding residents. CP 164. With

the increased air traffic resulting from commercial passenger service, the noise impacts will increase.

The County Council made its decision to lease Paine Field without being informed of any of these impacts because it did not conduct environmental review beforehand. The findings of an environmental review could have altered the County's ultimate decision. In its proprietary capacity, the County was free to bargain for environmental benefits, such as limitations on single occupancy vehicle usage to offset traffic impacts and to limit greenhouse gas emissions. The County Council could not give any of these issues adequate consideration in its decision-making process because the County did not conduct environmental review beforehand.

#### B. Proceedings Below

On March 22, 2015, the City of Mukilteo and Save Our Communities filed a petition for judicial review in King County Superior Court of Snohomish County's decision to enter into the option contract without environment review. CP 1-7. Mukilteo alleged that Snohomish County violated SEPA by failing to conduct environmental review before entering into the lease option and also alleged that Snohomish County violated the Snohomish County Code by not providing the County Council

with a written assessment of alternatives. CP 6. Propeller was named as a defendant, also. CP 2.

The superior court granted Snohomish County and Propeller's motions for summary judgment, finding that the option to lease did not constitute a "project action" as defined by the SEPA regulations. CP 650-652. The Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court's decision (attached as Appendix A). Mukilteo filed a motion for reconsideration with the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals denied the motion for reconsideration on February 27, 2017 (attached as Appendix B). This petition for review followed.

#### V. ARGUMENT

The timing of SEPA review is a crucial question and one that this Court and the Court of Appeals have addressed on more than one occasion. Previous decisions can be distilled down to the principle that SEPA review must occur as early in the process as possible and must be completed in time to inform any decision that has a binding effect upon the decision-maker. This case presents a perfect example of such a decision requiring SEPA review: Snohomish County entered into a legally binding option contract that obligates it to lease Paine Field when Propeller exercises that option. Unfortunately, the Court of Appeals

issued an opinion that directly contradicts previous decisions on the timing of SEPA review. Furthermore, the Court of Appeals misstates the black letter law of option contracts by ignoring the legally binding nature of an option contract and its requirement that the optionor hold open an offer for a specified period of time. This Court should grant review to clarify the timing of SEPA review and ensure that the legal effect of option contracts is not muddled or entirely abrogated.

### A. The Court of Appeals' Decision

SEPA requires preparation of an environmental impact statement for any "major actions significantly affecting the quality of the environment." RCW 43.21C.030(c). Thus, whether the option to lease is an "action" is critical to determining if SEPA review was required before entering into the lease. Project actions include "agency decisions to . . . Purchase, sell, lease, transfer, or exchange natural resources, including publicly owned land, whether or not the environment is directly modified." WAC 197-11-704(2)(a)(ii).

In affirming the superior court, the Court of Appeals focused on the nature of an option contract and whether the option contract constituted a project action. The Court of Appeals determined that the

Actions are divided into "project actions" and "nonproject actions." WAC 197-11-704. Only project actions are relevant here.

option to lease did not constitute a project action and, therefore, did not require environmental review beforehand.

In assessing the nature of an option contract to determine if it constituted a project action, the Court of Appeals stated that "[a]n option conveys no legal or equitable interest in the real property that is the subject of the option prior to its exercise. It is merely a contractual right to be exercised in accordance with its terms." Op. at 10. This legal formalism obscures the reality of the "virtually unstoppable administrative inertia" this Court warned about in *King County*. And even in the world of legal formalism, the Court of Appeals did not address the contractual duties imposed on the County by the option contract—namely, that it legally obligates the option (Snohomish County) to lease Paine Field to the optionee (Propeller) under the terms of the lease attached to the option and does not allow the County to alter the terms of the lease in response to environmental review.

The Court of Appeals also did not address the full definition of a project action. Specifically, project actions are "agency decisions to . . . Purchase, sell, lease, transfer, or exchange natural resources, including publicly owned land, whether or not the environment is directly modified." WAC 197-11-704(2)(a)(ii) (emphasis supplied). The

definition of a project action is not limited to whether an ownership or equitable interest has been transferred in publicly-owned land. The trigger for a project action is whether a *decision* to lease has been made. But the Court of Appeals specifically rejected this reading of the regulation:

Accordingly, Mukilteo's contention that the option is a decision to enter into a lease is not helpful to a proper analysis of whether approval of the option is a project action.

Op. at 11. The Court of Appeals did not address the decision-making aspect of the option contract, instead focusing on whether an interest in the land had been transferred. Op. at 12.

Finally, the Court of Appeals treated the option to lease and the lease as two distinct actions rather than intertwined decisions. *See* Op. at 15 ("What happens after Propeller exercises the option upon completion of the 'SEPA process' is immaterial to what is presently before this court."). The Court rejected that this case bore any similarities to cases where preliminary actions had a "binding effect" or created "virtually unstoppable administrative inertia" on the agency's eventual decision-making power. Op. at 12.

In essence, the Court of Appeals held that despite the option contract's imposition of an absolute legal obligation for Snohomish County to lease Paine Field to Propeller under the terms of the lease currently written, the option contract did not represent a decision to lease publicly owned land, it did not have a "binding effect," and it did not create "administrative inertia" in favor of the new commercial air passenger terminal.

# B. The Decision Below is in Conflict with Decisions of this Court.

The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with several opinions of this Court and, therefore, review is warranted. RAP 13.4(b)(1). The lower court's decision not only conflicts with this Court's previous decisions on the timing of environmental review under SEPA, but it also is in conflict with this Court's decision describing the nature and effect of option contracts.

1. The decision conflicts with cases that hold that option contracts are legally binding decisions to hold an offer open.

The Court of Appeals decision regarding the legal effect of an option contract conflicts with numerous reported cases of this Court and the courts of appeal. An option contract is "a complete, valid, and binding agreement by the terms of which a collateral offer is kept open for a specified period of time." *Bennett Veneer Factors, Inc. v. Brewer*, 73

Wn.2d 849, 853, 441 P.2d 128 (1968). "Importantly, an option contract is binding upon the offeror and actually becomes a contract *before* the option holder decides whether or not to exercise the power." *Mukilteo Ret. Apartments, L.L.C. v. Mukilteo Inv'rs L.P.*, 176 Wn. App. 244, 263, 310 P.3d 814, 824 (2013) (internal citations omitted; emphasis in the original).

The requirement for the optionor to keep the offer open for real property is a hard and fast rule. "If the optionee unconditionally exercises the option in accordance with the terms of the contract, the optionor must sell the property in accordance with the terms of the option." *Pardee v. Jolly*, 163 Wn.2d 558, 568, 182 P.3d 967 (2008). If the optionor attempts to withdraw the offer, the terms of an option contract are to be strictly construed. *Id.* Specific performance is the only adequate remedy for the breach of an option contract regarding real property because land is unique and difficult to value. *Id.* 

The Court of Appeals misunderstood the effect of an option contract when it asserted that "the lease has no . . . present effect." Op. at 11. The option contract legally obligates the County to lease Paine Field when Propeller exercises its option, thereby giving the lease a very real "present effect." The option agreement "becomes a contract *before* the option holder decides whether or not to exercise the power." *Mukilteo* 

Ret. Apartments, supra, 163 Wn.2d at 568. The Court of Appeals' reasoning conflicts with black-letter case law regarding option contracts.

# 2. The decision conflicts with cases that hold that SEPA requires environmental review at the earliest possible stage.

The Court of Appeals decision contradicts this Court's unequivocal direction that environmental review must be completed as early as possible, so that decisions are made "by deliberation, not default." Stempel v. Department of Water Resources, 82 Wn.2d 109, 118, 508 P.2d 166 (1973). "The point of an [environmental impact statement] is not to evaluate agency decisions after they are made, but rather to provide environmental information to assist with making those decisions." King County v. Washington State Boundary Review Board for King County, supra, 122 Wn.2d at 666.

In *King County*, this Court warned of the "snowball effect" of decisions made in the early phases of a lengthy administrative process. This court recognized that "[e]ven if adverse environmental effects are discovered later, the inertia generated by the initial government decisions (made without environmental impact statements) may carry the project forward regardless." *Id.* at 664. In *King County*, the government decision at issue was the annexation of land to the City of Black Diamond. This

Court held that even though there were no specific land use proposals included in the land annexation decision, the decision was not insulated from environmental review because there were probable adverse environmental impacts that could flow from that early, general annexation decision. *Id*.

Here, Snohomish County's decision is much more specific and binding than the decision at issue in *King County*. Whereas there was no specific land use proposal on the table in *King County*, there is a very specific proposal for a new commercial air terminal here. If Propeller exercises its option, Snohomish County is legally obligated to enter into the lease attached to the option. Entering into the option to lease goes well beyond the "virtually unstoppable administrative inertia" that this Court warned of—it is a legally enforceable requirement.

The Court of Appeals' decision also summarily dismissed the idea that there might be a snowballing effect here:

Similarly, we conclude "there is no snowball [effect]" in this case. All that has happened is the County's decision to execute an option, which may result in a lease. The option specifically provides that a SEPA process must be completed prior to the exercise of the option and execution of the lease that may follow.

Op. at 20.

King County, supra, 122 Wn.2d at 664.

The Court of Appeals' reasoning ignores the binding effect of the option; this Court has held that SEPA requires environmental review to assist in agency's decision-making, not provide review of decisions after they are made. *King County*, 122 Wn.2d at 666, 860 P.2d 1024. The County Council has no further decisions to make. Any environmental review conducted later will be absolutely useless in terms of allowing the members of the County Council to make their decision based on the information developed during environmental review, *i.e.*, to make their decision based "on deliberation, not default." *Stempel, supra*, 82 Wn.2d at 118. Any environmental review conducted later by the permitting department will merely review a decision that has already been made. The so-called "snowball effect" is more akin to a runaway train here.

The Court of Appeals' decision is also in conflict with an opinion recently issued by this Court, *Columbia Riverkeeper v. Port of Vancouver*, --- Wn.2d --- (2017).<sup>3</sup> In *Columbia Riverkeeper*, this Court evaluated whether a lease agreement which was subject to final approval by the governor and the Energy Facility Site Evaluation Council ("EFSEC") constituted a project action under SEPA. This Court focused on two

The Court of Appeals decision in our case made reference to the lower court's decision in *Columbia Riverkeeper v. Port of Vancouver*, 189 Wn. App. 800, 357 P.3d 710 (2015). Decision at 11. This Court issued its decision in *Columbia Riverkeeper* after the Court of Appeals issued its opinion in this matter.

aspects of the lease agreement in holding that environmental review was not required before entering into the lease: 1) EFSEC and the governor hold the ultimate authority to either approve the lease or grant approval contingent on changes to the lease, and 2) the Port retained authority to modify the development, construction, and operation plans of the facility. Slip op. at 23. Because of this, this Court reasoned:

The lease language plainly preserves the Port's ability to shape the final project in response to environmental review, for example by adopting additional mitigation measures, heightened insurance requirements, or modifying project specifications. This preserves reasonable alternatives.

Slip op. at 23-24.

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