Case No. 94328-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF MUKILTEO, a municipal corporation; and SAVE OUR
COMMUNITIES, a Washington non-profit corporation,

Appellants,

v.

SNOHOMISH COUNTY and PROPELLER AIRPORTS
PAINE FIELD, LLC, a Delaware LLC

**SNOHOMISH COUNTY'S ANSWER TO THE PETITION FOR
REVIEW OF THE CITY OF MUKILTEO AND SAVE OUR
COMMUNITIES**

MARK K. ROE

Snohomish County Prosecuting Attorney

Alethea Hart, WSBA #32840

Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Robert J. Drewel Bldg., 8th Floor, M/S 504

3000 Rockefeller Avenue

Everett, Washington 98201-4046

(425)388-6330 Fax: (425)388-6333

ahart@snoco.org

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

The City largely focuses its attention on whether execution of the Option is a “project action” requiring environmental review under WAC 197-11-704. However, even if execution of the Option falls within the definition of “project action,” it is nonetheless categorically exempt from SEPA requirements under WAC 197-11-800. *See Dioxin/Organochlorine Center v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd.*, 131 Wn.2d 345, 348, 932 P.2d 158 (1997) (holding “actions classified as categorically exempt are immune from SEPA review”). The Court of Appeals concluded that execution of the Option is categorically exempt under WAC 197-11-800(5)(c), a conclusion that the City does not challenge or even mention in its Petition.⁴ Decision at 15-18. Therefore, even if this Court was to conclude the Option does constitute a “project action,” the Option is categorically exempt from SEPA requirements under that unchallenged portion of the Court of Appeals Decision.

⁴ Also unchallenged is the conclusion that the exception in WAC 197-11-305(1)(b)(i) to the exemption is inapplicable in this case. Decision at 17-18.

RAP 13.7(b) provides that the scope of review is “only the questions raised in ... the petition for review and the answer, unless the Supreme Court orders otherwise upon the granting of the ... petition.” The City did not raise the issue of categorical exemption to this Court. It would not be appropriate for this Court to grant review of an issue that the City specifically excluded from its Petition. This is not the circumstance presented in some cases where this Court invokes its “inherent authority to consider issues not raised by the parties if necessary to reach a proper decision.” *See, e.g., Quinault Indian Nation v. Imperium Terminal Services, LLC*, 187 Wn.2d 460, 477, 387 P.3d 670 (2017). Here, the issue was raised and argued and the Court of Appeals concluded that execution of the Option is categorically exempt. Decision at 16-17.

Presentation for review of limited issues that would not fully resolve a case effectively renders any opinion this Court would enter merely advisory, which is highly disfavored. *See To-Ro Trade Shows v. Collins*, 144 Wn.2d 403, 411, 27 P.3d 1149 (2001). Any determination by this Court would not be final and conclusive because the question of categorical exemption is governed by the Decision. Resolution of the limited issues presented by the City could not provide the relief sought by the City. The Court should reject review.

B. This Challenge is Moot

The Court should not accept review because this matter is moot. The general rule is that where only moot questions or abstract propositions are presented, an appeal should be dismissed. *Pedersen v. Maleng*, 101 Wn.2d 288, 289-90, 677 P.2d 767 (1984) (citation omitted). As previously described in Section III of this brief, the commercial air service objected to by the City has been reviewed twice – once under NEPA and once under SEPA. Both reviews are final and all appeals have been exhausted. The Court can provide the City no relief, and the case is moot.

The exception to the general rule on mootness – that matters of continuing and substantial public interest are involved – is not present here. *See Pedersen*, 101 Wn.2d at 289-90 (citation omitted). The question of whether execution of an option to lease Paine Field for commercial air service was subject to SEPA review is not likely to recur as, assuming Propeller’s proposal moves forward, commercial air service will already be established at Paine Field. Similarly, there is no need for an “authoritative determination for the future guidance of public officers.” *Id.* at 290 (citation omitted). The City’s failure to appeal the February 26, 2017, MDNS must be interpreted as the City’s acquiescence with or indifference to the SEPA review conducted by the County, as specifically

contemplated in the Option. There simply is no “continuing question of great public importance” here. *Id.*

The City’s challenge is moot and this Court should decline review.

C. The Determination that Execution of the Option is Not a “Project Action” is Consistent with Case Law and Does Not Create an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

The Court should not grant review of the City’s Petition due to the City’s failure to appeal a controlling issue and because the case is moot. But even if the Court can move past these fatal flaws in the City’s Petition, the substance of the Petition does not warrant review.

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that execution of the Option is not a “project action” under WAC 197-11-704. The Court of Appeals did not misapprehend the law on option contracts nor did it rule in conflict with precedent. Execution of the Option does not coerce a specific final outcome or create a “snowball effect.” There is no issue of substantial public interest for this Court’s review.

1. The Court of Appeals did not Misapprehend Option Contracts

The Decision does not conflict with case law concerning option contracts. In an option contract, the optionor “parts only with the right to sell the property to any other person during the time limited....” *Pardee v. Jolly*, 163 Wn.2d 558, 573, 182 P.3d 967 (2008) (citation and internal quote omitted). The optionee acquires only the right to purchase the

property in the future, upon the terms and conditions set forth in the option. *Id.* While an option contract contemplates a potential future action, the option contract is not that potential future action. In assessing whether execution of the Option constituted an agency decision to lease publicly-owned land, it was completely appropriate for the Court of Appeals to consider the fact that “[a]n option conveys no legal or equitable interest in the real property....” Decision at 10 (citation omitted). The Decision properly recognized “the distinctive legal natures of the option to lease and the lease itself.” Decision at 10. The Decision aligned its analysis with legal standards, noting that an option contract “is merely a contractual right to be exercised in accordance with its terms.” Decision at 10 (citing *Pardee*, 163 Wn.2d at 568).⁵

Unpersuasive is the City’s insistence that the County, by execution of the Option, effectively executed a lease. It did not. Exercise of the Option is contingent on compliance with SEPA. CP 44-45, § 7. Failure to comply with the terms and conditions of the Option will result in a future

⁵ The City’s citation to *Mukilteo Retirement Apartments, L.L.C. v. Mukilteo Investors L.P.*, 176 Wn.App. 244, 310 P.3d 814 (2013), is unavailing. First, the portion of that case cited by the City is unpublished, which the City fails to indicate consistent with GR 14.1. Second, the cited proposition is unremarkable – that an option contract is a binding agreement – and is consistent with the Court of Appeals’ determination that the Option is a contractual right to be exercised in accordance with its terms. Decision at 10.

agreement never coming to fruition. The Option simply is not a lease. This fact does not change with repetition of the contrary proposition.

Similarly unpersuasive is the City's insistence that the County retained no ability to negotiate the terms of a lease. While a draft lease is attached to the Option, exercise of the Option is for execution of a lease "substantially in the form" of the draft lease. CP 43, § 1. This language clearly contemplates modification of the lease. And the draft lease makes clear that project plans, including all relevant conditions, as well as operating procedures, will be created or refined during the option period and will modify any future lease agreement. CP 92; 141; 142 (noting that the project specifications and operating procedures will be created or refined during the option period). The decision to lease is left for another day, after SEPA review and negotiation of full lease terms and conditions consistent with that review.

The Court of Appeals did not misapprehend the law on option contracts or the terms of the Option at issue here.

2. Consistent with Analogous Precedent, the Court of Appeals Properly Concluded Execution of the Option is not a Project Action

The Court of Appeals properly concluded that execution of the Option is not a "project action" under WAC 197-11-704(2)(a)(ii). Decision at 4-13. Nevertheless, the City argues that the Court of Appeals

erred, relying on *Magnolia Neighborhood Planning Council v. City of Seattle*, 155 Wn.App. 305, 230 P.3d 190, review denied, 170 Wn.2d 1003 (2010). *Magnolia* is distinguishable, and the Court of Appeals more appropriately analogized the Option to the memorandum of understanding (MOU) at issue in *International Longshore and Warehouse Union Local 19 v. City of Seattle*, 176 Wn.App. 512, 309 P.3d 654 (2013).

Because the Option is contingent on environmental review, it is similar to the MOU in *International Longshore*. The MOU conditioned possible local government expenditures of public funds for an arena on the completion of SEPA review and determinations by local government “whether it is appropriate to proceed with or without additional or revised conditions based on the SEPA review....” *Id.* at 517-518.

Similarly here, the Option is conditioned on performance of SEPA review. Section 7 of the Option provides: “Exercise of the Option and execution of the Lease are subject to compliance with RCW 43.21C.... Propeller and the County agree that a SEPA process must be completed prior to exercise of the Option and execution of the Lease.” CP 44-45. The County retains full authority to change course or alter the plan with respect to Paine Field if the results of SEPA review warrant such a decision. See RCW 43.21C.060 (providing that any governmental action may be conditioned or denied under SEPA). The draft lease specifies that

it will include the project plans as developed during the option period, as informed by the required SEPA process. CP 92; 141. The County retains discretion to approve, condition, or deny any land use permits. CP 45, § 9 (“...construction and grading permits must be obtained from the County in accordance with applicable law”). The County also has the ongoing authority, after SEPA review, to require compliance with all laws, ordinances, codes, rules, and regulations applicable to the project, which will be an express lease requirement, if executed. CP 128-29.

In *Magnolia*, appropriately distinguished by the Court of Appeals, Seattle sought to acquire federal real property and, as part of the required federal process, approved a plan for residential development of the property that, if accepted by the federal government, would “bind the City’s use of the property upon federal approval.” *Magnolia*, 155 Wn.App. at 308-309. The court held that Seattle’s residential development plan constituted a project action under WAC 197-11-704(2)(a)(ii) because Seattle was bound to it upon occurrence of an action Seattle had no control over – adoption of the plan by the federal government as a condition of real property transfer. *Id.* at 317.

That is not the case here. The execution of the Option was not a decision to lease but a decision that preceded “the possibility that a lease may follow.” Decision at 9. Exercise of the Option is conditioned on the

County's performance of SEPA review, which places the County in a different position than Seattle in *Magnolia*: the County retains full control over environmental review and future decisions on conditions as a result of that environmental review, including the determination whether to lease Paine Field. CP 44-45; *see also* RCW 43.21C.060.

Magnolia is further distinguishable because the securing of options is specifically contemplated under WAC 197-11-070(4) as an appropriate preliminary step, so long as doing so is consistent with WAC 197-11-070(1) regarding preservation of reasonable alternatives, which occurred here and which the County addresses in Section IV.C.3, below.

The Decision was consistent with WAC 197-11-704(2)(a)(ii) and *International Longshore* and appropriately distinguished *Magnolia*. Execution of the Option is not a project action. In any event, the Court of Appeals held that execution of the Option is categorically exempt and the City does not challenge that. This Court should reject review.

3. *The Decision Does Not Conflict with King County v. Washington State Boundary Review Board for King County or Columbia Riverkeeper v. Port of Vancouver*

The City contends that the Court of Appeals erred in holding that execution of the Option did not create the "snowball effect" warned of in *King County v. Washington State Boundary Review Board for King County*, 122 Wn.2d 648, 860 P.2d 1024 (1993). The City is mistaken.

King County is inapposite. There, the question was whether SEPA review of an annexation, a “project action” under WAC 197-11-704(2)(a)(ii), should have resulted in a DNS or an EIS and the appropriate analysis to apply “to impacts arising from possible future development in assessing the need for an EIS.” *King County*, 122 Wn.2d at 661-62. The Court concluded that review of the environmental effects of future development of the annexed properties was warranted. *Id.* at 663. The source of the Court’s concern for the “snowball effect” articulated in *King County* was a “project action” – annexation – that during SEPA review did not consider future development. The Court was concerned with the scope of the required SEPA review, not whether SEPA review was required in the first instance. That is distinguishable from the circumstance here where execution of the Option is not a “project action” and, in any event, execution of the Option is categorically exempt under WAC 197-11-800(5)(c). There is simply no snowball, as the Court of Appeals accurately observed. Decision at 20. Not performing SEPA review for a categorically exempt activity cannot, by definition, constitute improper delay of SEPA review.

The City also contends that the Decision conflicts with this Court’s recent opinion in *Columbia Riverkeeper v. Port of Vancouver*, ___ Wn.2d ___, No. 92335-3 (March 16, 2017). It does not. There, the Port executed

a lease agreement for the construction of a crude oil transportation facility prior to SEPA review. Addressing only the question of whether the Port improperly limited its reasonable alternatives contrary to WAC 197-11-070, this Court concluded that it did not, because: (1) the Port's lease was subject to a condition precedent involving review by the Energy Facility Site Evaluation Council, which performs environmental review, and (2) the Port retained authority to approve development, construction, and operations plans. *Riverkeeper* Slip op. at 3. An analogous situation is presented here. Execution of the Option is subject to a condition precedent requiring environmental review, and the County retains full authority to approve development, construction, and operation plans, consistent with SEPA review.

The Decision, consistent with *Riverkeeper*, concluded that execution of the Option did not limit the County's reasonable alternatives.⁶ Decision at 21-24. Under the Option the County retains the ability to "shape the final project in response to environmental review." *See Riverkeeper* Slip op. at 23. And that is precisely what occurred with the SEPA process conducted by the County and unchallenged by the City. The County imposed a number of conditions on the project in response to

⁶ WAC 197-11-786 defines a "reasonable alternative" as "an action that could feasibly attain or approximate a proposal's objectives, but at a lower environmental cost or decreased level of environmental degradation."

environmental review. These include the requirement to coordinate with Everett Transit for public transportation access to Paine Field, providing a minimum of four electric vehicle charging stations within the project parking areas, payment to the City of Mukilteo of \$94,406.25 for mitigation of traffic impacts, compliance with the Fly Friendly/Quiet Departure Program to reduce departure noise, and direction for Propeller to seek air carrier agreement to limit scheduled flights during nighttime hours.⁷ Appendix B at 4. The County's reasonable alternatives were not limited by execution of the SEPA-contingent Option.

The Court of Appeals did not rule contrary to this Court's later opinion in *Riverkeeper* when it concluded that execution of the Option did not limit the County's reasonable alternatives or otherwise create a "snowball effect."

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Snohomish County respectfully requests this Court deny review.